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The Fortress of Louisbourg National Historic Park is a project of the Government of Canada, begun in 1961 and just now nearing completion. It is a massive undertaking, a reconstruction of a portion of the 18th-century French town as it was during the 1740s when, because of its strategic and economic importance, it was a flashpoint of Anglo-French rivalry in North America. Louisbourg's span of history was short, founded in 1713 and captured first in 1745 and then for the second and final time in 1758, but at its peak it was a centre for French trade, commerce, fishing and military power in the New World. Situated on a barren peninsula dividing a deep, well-protected harbour from the rugged North Atlantic, the town's population by the 1740s is thought to have  been around 3000, including a military garrison of about 700. The Louisbourg project consists of much more than a collection of reconstructed buildings. It also includes interpretive exhibits, publications, films, furnished period houses and, most popular of all, costumed animation of the events and routines of 18th-century daily life.

One aspect of the re-creation and interpretation of life in Louisbourg is the project to reconstruct some of the original gardens. The project began without the benefit of any professional horticulturist or botanist. Instead, a group of interested staff members with diverse gardening backgrounds and considerable enthusiasm began researching and planning the gardens, with advice from historians, draughtsmen, architects and various other specialists in the Park.

During researches in the extensive Louisbourg documentation it was discovered that during the period 1713-1758 there were over 100 gardens in the town.
 Cartographic evidence from over 60 maps and plans of the town indicated that the gardens were divided into squares or rectangles, often with borders around the circumference. In some cases, maps of the same year present a different layout for the same garden,
 which indicates that some garden plans may be merely an artist's rendering rather than an actual diagram of an existing plot. For instance, one plan shows the King's Garden divided symmetrically into rectangles at a period when according to official correspondence, it was not under cultivation.
 Unfortunately, no detailed design for any individual garden has yet been discovered.

The average dimensions of the gardens were found to be 61.4 pieds long by 45.6 pieds wide (1 pied = 1.066 ft or 32.47 cm). The smallest one mentioned was 22 pieds by 16 pieds.
 Obviously, these gardens were far from the immense and elegantly formal estate gardens found in France during this period. No mention of "jardins fruitiers" or "jardins d'agrément" were found in the documents, although in several instances, "jardins potagers"
 or "jardins en légumage et à herbes"
 are cited. It is not surprising that the Louisbourg gardens would be of a practical nature considering the limited space within the fortress walls and the continuing lack of self-sufficiency that plagued Louisbourg throughout its history.

As for the actual cultivation standards of these gardens, their soil quality, care and maintenance undoubtedly varied. It was 1741 before the occupation of professional gardener was listed in the census returns,
 and most gardens were cultivated by individual fishermen, tradesmen, merchants, military officers or servants who may or may not have had sufficient gardening expertise to maintain attractive and productive gardens. Some documents record the ordering of topsoil for improvement of specific gardens,
 but this seems to have been the exception rather than the rule.

The majority of gardens in Louisbourg were backyard potager  gardens, surrounded by piquet fences,
 with varying standards of cultivation. A journal kept during the New England occupation of the town (1745-1749) states: "There were also many very fine gardens ... The King's Garden just by the Citadel ... the garden in the Magazin General ... the Hospital, etc., and many others but not Eaquel to these."

Once the basic type of gardening done in Louisbourg was determined it was necessary, without any extant individual plans, to decide on specific layouts for our sample gardens. Keeping in mind the background, social status and personalities of the various property owners, gardens were designed according to the rules, regulations and philosophy of 18th-century French gardening as outlined in La Nouvelle Maison Rustique by Louis Leger, published in France in 1755.
 The first volume of this two-volume work concentrates specifically on all aspects of French country gardening during our period and offers a wealth of detailed advice, as well as a sampling of designs for typical potager gardens.

In the actual selection of plant materials several sources were used: La Nouvelle Maison Rustique, for a list of the most popular potager garden plants; plant lists from New England
 (deemed acceptable because of the connection through trade between Louisbourg and the American colonies); documents, letters, and census returns mentioning the names of specific plants;
 18th-century cookbooks for the insight they offer on the most commonly used herbs for cookery; and archaeological seed analysis.
 This last source has revealed certain types of foodstuffs available here, although whether these were grown locally or imported cannot be ascertained. During the 18th century experimentation with local indigenous species was encouraged by the king, so it is reasonable to surmise that some plant materials would have been transplanted into gardens and tested for useful qualities. Both native species and French introductions of the period are incorporated into our gardens after they have been historically authenticated.15
To date, four gardens have been reconstructed at Louisbourg with a fifth partly designed. These are representative gardens only, and serve as a visual enhancement to our interpretation of 18th-century life. Research is continuing and our gardens will adapt as new or additional information is uncovered, in keeping with the mandate of authenticity displayed in all aspects of the Fortress of Louisbourg project.
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